MASTER CONTRACT BETWEEN

THE BOARD OF SCHOOLTRUSTEES OF THE

MADISON-GRANT UNITED SCHOOL CORPORATION

AND

THE MADISON-GRANT TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION

July 1, 2023 to

June 30, 2025

THIS MASTER CONTRACT ENTERED INTO THIS DAY OF OCTOBER, 2023, BY AND BETWEEN THE BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES OF THE MADISON- GRANT UNITED SCHOOL CORPORATION, HEREIN AFTER CALLED THE "BOARD," AND THE **MADISON-GRANT TEACHERS'** ASSOCIATION, AN AFFILIATE OF THE INDIANA STATE TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION **AND** THE **NATIONAL EDUCATION ASSOCIATION** HEREINAFTER CALLED THE "ASSOCIATION."

RECOGNITION

The Board recognizes the Madison-Grant Teachers' Association as the exclusive representative of certificated school employees in the following bargaining unit:

All full-time certificated employees, as defined in Indiana Code 20-29, in the Madison-Grant United School Corporation, except for the superintendent (and other certified central office administrators), principals, assistant principals, athletic director, and all substitute teachers.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE	SUBJECT
1.000	Definitions
2.000	Fair Practice
3.000	Compensation and Expenses
4.000	Leaves of Absence
4.100	Sick Leave
4.200	Bereavement Leave
4.250	Personal Leave
4.300	Temporary Disability Leave
4.350	Adoption Leave
4.400	Professional Leave
4.450	Court Leave
4.500	Jury Duty Leave
4.550	Political Leave
4.600	Study Leave
4.650	SabbaticalLeave
4.700	Military Leave
4.750	Compensable Injury Leave
4.880	Sick Leave Bank
5.000	Employee Severance Pay
6.000	Supplemental Retirement
7.000	Severance & Supplemental
	Retirement Buy-Out
8.000	Retiree Health and Life Insurance
9.000	Insurance Protection
10.000	401(a) Matching Annuity Plan
11.000	Grievance
12.000	Term of Contract
Appendix "A"	Temporary Disability Leave Form
Appendix "B"	Grievance Report Form
Appendix "C"	Appendix to 4.800-Sick Bank

1.000	DEFINITIONS
1.100	"Board" means the Board of School Trustees of the Madison-Grant United School Corporation and any person(s) authorized to act for said body in dealing with its employees.
1.150	"School Corporation" means the Madison-Grant United School Corporation of the Counties of Madison and Grant of the State of Indiana.
1.200	"Certificated school employees" and "teacher(s)" mean the certificated personnel employed by the Board in the bargaining unit as defined in the Recognition Clause of this Contract.
1.250	"Association" means the Madison-Grant Teachers' Association which has been certified or recognized as the exclusive representative of said certificated school employees, or the person or persons duly authorized to act on behalf of such representative.
1.300	The term "emergency" when used in this Contract, shall refer to a condition or situation which would not have been anticipated under normal circumstances.
1.350	Masculine pronouns shall refer to both the masculine and feminine gender.
1.400	The term "probationary teacher" shall be defined by LC. 20-28-6-7.5.
1.450	The term "professional teacher" shall be defined by IC 20-28-6-7.5.
1.500	The term "established teacher" shall be defined by LC. 20-28-6-8.

2.000 FAIR PRACTICE

- 2.050 The agreements in this Contract shall supersede any rules, regulations, and/or practices of the Board, which are contrary to or inconsistent with the terms recorded herein. Any individual contract between the Board and an individual teacher shall be consistent with the terms and conditions of this Contract. If an individual contract made subsequent to this Contract contains any language inconsistent with this Contract, this Contract shall prevail.
- 2.100 The provisions of this Contract shall be applied without regard to marital status, race, creed, religion, sex, color, or national origin.
- 2.150 Marital status, race, creed, religion, color, sex, or national origin shall not be made a condition of employment as a certificated school employee of the School Corporation.

2.200 SEVERABILITY

Should any article, section, or clause of this Contract be legally restrained or declared illegal by a court of competent jurisdiction, said article, section, or clause, as the case may be, shall be automatically deleted from this Contract to the extent that it violates the law, but the remaining articles, sections, and clauses shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of the Contract, if not directly affected by the deleted article, section, or clause.

- The Co-presidents of the Association, and/or his/her designee, shall be entitled to use up to a total of seven (7) paid administrative leave days per year to be used for Association business. These days may be used in half day increments. The Corporation shall arrange for a substitute teacher for such leave. The Superintendent, upon request from the Association Co-Presidents, may, but will not be required to, grant additional paid administrative leave days to the Association. Professional leave under this section, upon request, shall be granted in one-half (1/2) day increments.
- This Contract supersedes and cancels all previous contracts or agreements, oral or written, between the Board and the Association and constitutes the entire agreement between the parties. Any amendment or agreement supplemental hereto shall not be binding upon either party unless agreed to and executed in writing by the parties hereto.

2.500 CONTRACT LIMITATIONS

The Board construes and the Association recognizes the specific, express provisions of this Contract as constituting limitations upon the Board's right, power, authority, duties, and responsibilities to manage and direct the operations and activities of this School Corporation to the full extent authorized by law.

2.550 It is expressly understood by both parties to this Contract that rights of school employees and school employers, as enumerated in I. C. 20-29-4-2 are considered a part of this agreement. Further, it is understood that no part of this agreement will infringe in any way upon the right of the Board to manage the district to the full extent authorized by law. Any section of this Contract which infringes upon this right shall be void.

3.000 COMPENSATION AND EXPENSES

3.100 NUMBER OF PAYS

The Board agrees to pay each teacher according to the Salary Grid in Section 3.300 in 26 payments. Payments shall be made every other Friday, but payment schedule may be altered when:

- A. The school business office is closed for holiday or vacation, in which case payment shall be made on the last business office workday prior to the closing.
- B. An emergency results in a delayed payment. In such cases the Board will make every reasonable effort to make payment as soon as possible.
- C. The payment schedule would result in more than 26 pays in a calendar year in which case an adjustment will be made so that one payment will cover a three week period in order to meet a 26 pay per calendar year limitation. (At no time will this result in a payment of more than the actual contract amount of each individual.)
- D. In the event a separation from service occurs before the end of the 12 month payment period, the teacher will be entitled to an additional payment for the amount he has actually earned from the beginning of the 12 month pay period until the date of separation from service, but which has not yet been paid. This additional payment will be included in the teacher's final paycheck. For this purpose, "separation from service" shall have the same meaning as that term is defined in section 1.409A-l(h) of the Treasury regulations. (Generally, the regulations state that a "separation of service" occurs when the employee dies, retires, resigns, or otherwise has a termination of employment with the employer.)

3.200 Compensation Model

A. Initial Placement

Teachers newly hired shall be placed on the Salary Grid at the level that corresponds with their years of experience and degree. Teachers who possess a Bachelor's Degree with no prior teaching experience shall enter the Salary Grid at Level BA 0 (Zero). Teachers who possess a Bachelor's Degree and a Career Specialist Permit with no prior teaching experience shall enter the Salary Grid at Level BA 2 (Two). A teacher who possesses a content area Master's Degree, as defined by the Indiana Department of Education and approved by the Superintendent, with no prior teaching experience will enter the Salary Grid at Level MS 0 (Zero). A teacher who possesses a content area Master's Degree, as defined by the Indiana Department of Education and approved by the Superintendent, and a Career Specialist Permit with no prior teaching experience will enter the Salary Grid at Level MS 2 (Two). The Superintendent will discuss any

deviation from these procedures with the Association Co-Presidents or designee. The Superintendent shall discuss with the Association co-Presidents and/or Vice President of Negotiations the initial salary placement of all newly hired bargaining unit members within the first thirty (30) teacher contact days of the new academic year. The Superintendent shall have the authority to offer a new hire up to a \$1500 one-time hiring bonus. If a new hire who receives a signing bonus leaves the School Corporation before the end of the first semester, s/he will be required to repay the entire signing bonus to the School Corporation. If the new hire leaves prior to the end of the second semester, the new hire will be required to repay the School Corporation one-half of the signing bonus back to the School Corporation.

B. General Eligibility

- 1. A teacher who received an evaluation rating of ineffective or improvement necessary in the prior school year is not eligible for any salary increase and remains at their prior year salary.
- 2. A teacher who is in the first two full school years of instructing students who receives an evaluation rating of improvement necessary is eligible for a salary increase.
- 3. A teacher who is currently receiving the highest salary commensurate with the teacher's educational attainment is not eligible for a salary increase.

C. <u>Factors and Definitions</u>

- 1. <u>Evaluation rating</u> The teacher received a highly effective or effective evaluation for the prior year, except that a teacher who is in the first two full school years of instructing students who receives an evaluation rating of improvement necessary.
- 2. <u>Experience</u> Teachers who worked a sufficient amount of days in the prior school year to qualify for an evaluation meet the experience requirement.

D. <u>Distribution and Movement</u>

- 1. <u>2023-2024</u> For the 2023-2024 school year, the teachers who meet both factors (Evaluation and Experience) will advance one row on the scale and receive a one-time stipend of \$1,500.
- 2. <u>2024-2025</u> For the 2024-2025 school year, the salary schedule will be increased \$3,000 per row, resulting in a base salary increase for all teachers who meet both factors (Evaluation and Experience) of \$3,000. No column movement will be permitted, and the teachers 2024-2025 salary will remain the status quo until further bargaining takes place during the 2025 bargaining season.

E. Redistribution

Any funds otherwise allocated for teachers who received evaluation ratings of ineffective or improvement necessary will be equally distributed as a stipend among teachers who receive an evaluation rating of effective or highly effective for the same evaluation period.

F. Time of Payment

The Board will pay the base salary increases and redistribution stipends described herein not later than 60 days after all State data that is part of the Madison-Grant evaluation rubric is received from the State of Indiana and evaluations for the preceding school year have been completed. Base salary increases will be applied retroactively to the start of the applicable school year.

G. Salary Range

Tl	e salary range for returning	teachers at the beginning of the 2023-2024 school year is
\$_	to \$, excluding the Board's the 3% INPRS contribution.

H. <u>Lack of Funding</u> - If sufficient funding is not available in any future year to fund complete movement on the salary schedule of all teachers who would otherwise meet the requirements to move on the schedule, then the parties will negotiate an alternative compensation arrangement that is compliant with Indiana law and comports with the funding available (if any) at that time.

I. <u>Dual Credit/AP Course Stipend</u>

If a teacher teaches a dual credit class or advanced placement (AP), they will receive \$150 per college credit hour. The teacher teaching the dual credit course must be qualified to teach dual credit courses or approved by the Superintendent to teach dual credit courses. For the dual credit stipend, the will be paid in a separate stipend check within 20 days of the college credit being awarded to the student. For the AP courses, the stipend will be paid in a separate stipend check within 20 days of students taking the specific course's AP exam. No additional payment will be awarded if multiple sections of the same course is taught in the same semester.

3.300 Salary Grid

		2023-	2024-
BA	MS	2024	2025
		Salary	Salary
0		\$40,000	\$43,000
1		\$40,750	\$43,750
2		\$41,500	\$44,500
3	0	\$42,250	\$45,250
4	1	\$43,000	\$46,000
5	2	\$43,750	\$46,750
6	3	\$44,500	\$47,500
7	4	\$45,250	\$48,250
8	5	\$46,000	\$49,000
9	6	\$46,750	\$49,750
10	7	\$47,500	\$50,500
11	8	\$48,250	\$51,250
12	9	\$49,000	\$52,000
13	10	\$49,750	\$52,750
14	11	\$50,500	\$53,500

15	12	\$51,250	\$54,250
16	13	\$52,000	\$55,000
17	14	\$52,750	\$55,750
18	15	\$53,500	\$56,500
19	16	\$54,250	\$57,250
20	17	\$55,000	\$58,000
21	18	\$55,750	\$58,750
22	19	\$56,500	\$59,500
23	20	\$57,250	\$60,250
24	21	\$58,000	\$61,000
25	22	\$58,750	\$61,750
26	23	\$59,500	\$62,500
27	24	\$60,250	\$63,250
28	25	\$61,000	\$64,000
29	26	\$61,750	\$64,750
30	27	\$62,500	\$65,500
31	28	\$63,250	\$66,250
32	29	\$64,000	\$67,000
33	30	\$64,750	\$67,750
34	31	\$65,500	\$68,500
35	32	\$66,250	\$69,250
36	33	\$67,000	\$70,000

The Board will pay directly to the Indiana State Teachers' Retirement Fund the retirement contribution required of teachers, in the amount of three percent (3%).

3.400 EXTRA CURRICULAR SALARY SCHEDULE

The index for each position is to be applied to the base (BA 0) salary on the teacher salary schedule for the applicable year. The resltant dollar figure shall be rounded to the nearest whole dollar.

2023-2024/2024-2025

		2022 2024	2024 2025
		2023-2024	2024-2025
	BASE	\$40,000.00	\$43,000.00
	Index	23-24 Salary	24-25 Salary
MADISON-GRANT JR/SR HIGH SCHOOL			
Varsity Baseball-Head Coach	0.106	\$4,059.80	\$4,240.00
Varsity Baseball-Asst. Coach	0.057	\$2,183.10	\$2,280.00
Varsity Baseball-Asst. Coach	0.057	\$2,183.10	\$2,280.00
Boys' Varsity Basketball-Head Coach	0.24	\$9,192.00	\$9,600.00
Boys' Varsity Basketball-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Boys' Varsity Basketball-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Boys' Varsity Basketball-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Girls' Varsity Basketball-Head Coach	0.24	\$9,192.00	\$9,600.00
Girls' Varsity Basketball-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Girls' Varsity Basketball-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Girls' Varsity Basketball-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Cheerleading-Head Coach	0.106	\$4,059.80	\$4,240.00
Cheerleading-Asst. Coach	0.026	\$995.80	\$1,040.00
Boys & Girls Cross Country-Head Coach	0.093	\$3,561.90	\$3,720.00
Boys & Girls Cross Country-Asst. Coach	0.054	\$2,068.20	\$2,160.00
Varsity Football-Head Coach	0.24	\$9,192.00	\$9,600.00
Varsity Football-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Varsity Football-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Varsity Football-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Varsity Football-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Varsity Football-Asst. Coach	0.118	\$4,519.40	\$4,720.00
Boys' Varsity Golf-Head Coach	0.064	\$2,451.20	\$2,560.00

Girls' Varsity Golf-Head Coach	0.064	\$2,451.20	\$2,560.00
Varsity Softball-Head Coach	0.106	\$4,059.80	\$4,240.00
Varsity Softball-Asst. Coach	0.057	\$2,183.10	\$2,280.00
Varsity Softball-Asst. Coach	0.057	\$2,183.10	\$2,280.00
Boys' Varsity Tennis-Head Coach	0.064	\$2,451.20	\$2,560.00
Boys' Varsity Tennis-Asst. Coach	0.025	\$957.50	\$1,000.00
Girls' Varsity Tennis-Head Coach	0.064	\$2,451.20	\$2,560.00
Girls' Varsity Tennis-Asst. Coach	0.025	\$957.50	\$1,000.00
Co-Ed Varsity Track-Head Coach	0.106	\$4,059.80	\$4,240.00
Co-Ed Varsity Track-Asst. Coach	0.057	\$2,183.10	\$2,280.00
Co-Ed Varsity Track-Asst. Coach	0.057	\$2,183.10	\$2,280.00
Co-Ed Varsity Track-Asst. Coach	0.057	\$2,183.10	\$2,280.00
Varsity Volleyball-Head Coach	0.153	\$5,859.90	\$6,120.00
Varsity Volleyball-Asst. Coach	0.079	\$3,025.70	\$3,160.00
Varsity Volleyball-Asst. Coach	0.079	\$3,025.70	\$3,160.00
Weight Room Coach-Fall	0.015	\$574.50	\$600.00
Weight Room Coach-Winter	0.015	\$574.50	\$600.00
Weight Room Coach-Spring	0.015	\$574.50	\$600.00
Varsity Wrestling-Head Coach	0.106	\$4,059.80	\$4,240.00
Varsity Wrestling-Asst. Coach	0.057	\$2,183.10	\$2,280.00
Academic Competition Sponsor	0.065	\$2,489.50	\$2,600.00
Art Club Sponsor	0.012	\$459.60	\$480.00
Art Director	0.059	\$2,259.70	\$2,360.00
Auditorium Manager	0.035	\$1,340.50	\$1,400.00
Band Director	0.115	\$4,404.50	\$4,600.00
Champions Together Sponsor	0.012	\$459.60	\$480.00
Dramatics and Thespians Sponsor	0.026	\$995.80	\$1,040.00
Family & Consumer Sciences Director	0.021	\$804.30	\$840.00
Grade 9 Sponsor	0.004	\$153.20	\$160.00
Grade 9 Sponsor	0.004	\$153.20	\$160.00
Grade 10 Sponsor	0.004	\$153.20	\$160.00
Grade 10 Sponsor	0.004	\$153.20	\$160.00
Grade 11 Sponsor	0.025	\$957.50	\$1,000.00

Grade 11 Sponsor	0.025	\$957.50	\$1,000.00
Grade 12 Sponsor	0.021	\$804.30	\$840.00
Grade 12 Sponsor	0.021	\$804.30	\$840.00
Honor Society Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Honor Society Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Spanish Club Sponsor	0.012	\$459.60	\$480.00
Student Council Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Student Council Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Vocal Music Director	0.09	\$3,447.00	\$3,600.00
Yearbook Sponsor	0.024	\$919.20	\$960.00
HS Robotics-Head Coach	0.065	\$2,489.50	\$2,600.00
HS Robotics-Asst. Coach	0.034	\$536.20	\$560.00
HS Robotics-Asst. Coach	0.034	\$536.20	\$560.00
eSports Manager	0.028	\$1,072.40	\$1,120.00
JH Athletic Director and Concessions	0.125	\$4,787.50	\$5,000.00
JH Baseball-Head Coach	0.025	\$957.50	\$1,000.00
Grade 8 Boys Basketball Coach	0.052	\$1,991.60	\$2,080.00
Grade 8 Boys Basketball Coach	0.052	\$1,991.60	\$2,080.00
Grade 7 Boys Basketball Coach	0.052	\$1,991.60	\$2,080.00
Grade 7 Boys Basketball Coach	0.052	\$1,991.60	\$2,080.00
Grade 6 Boys Basketball Coach	0.025	\$957.50	\$1,000.00
Grade 8 Girls Basketball Coach	0.052	\$1,991.60	\$2,080.00
Grade 8 Girls Basketball Coach	0.052	\$1,991.60	\$2,080.00
Grade 7 Girls Basketball Coach	0.052	\$1,991.60	\$2,080.00
Grade 7 Girls Basketball Coach	0.052	\$1,991.60	\$2,080.00
Grade 6 Girls Basketball Coach	0.025	\$957.50	\$1,000.00
Cheerleading and Pep Club Sponsor	0.02	\$766.00	\$800.00
JH Cross Country-Head Coach	0.016	\$612.80	\$640.00
Grade 8 Football Coach	0.043	\$1,646.90	\$1,720.00
Grade 8 Football Coach	0.043	\$1,646.90	\$1,720.00
Grade 7 Football Coach	0.043	\$1,646.90	\$1,720.00
Grade 7 Football Coach	0.043	\$1,646.90	\$1,720.00
JH Softball-Head Coach	0.025	\$957.50	\$1,000.00

JH Tennis-Head Coach	0.025	\$957.50	\$1,000.00
JH Co-Ed Track-Head Coach	0.033	\$1,263.90	\$1,320.00
JH Co-Ed Track-Asst. Coach	0.02	\$766.00	\$800.00
JH Co-Ed Track-Asst. Coach	0.02	\$766.00	\$800.00
8th Grade Volleyball-Head Coach	0.05	\$1,915.00	\$2,000.00
7th Grade Volleyball-Head Coach	0.05	\$1,915.00	\$2,000.00
6th Grade Volleyball-Head Coach	0.025	\$957.50	\$1,000.00
JH Wrestling-Head Coach	0.03	\$1,149.00	\$1,200.00
JH Wrestling-Asst. Coach	0.013	\$497.90	\$520.00
Cadet Guard Sponsor	0.01	\$383.00	\$400.00
Junior Honor Society Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Junior Honor Society Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
JH Robotics-Head Coach	0.028	\$1,072.40	\$1,120.00
JH Robotics-Asst. Coach	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Round 2 Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Round 2 Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Student Council Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
PARK ELEMENTARY			
Elementary Band Director	0.02	\$766.00	\$800.00
Elementary Choir Director	0.02	\$766.00	\$800.00
Drug, Alcohol, Tobacco Awareness Sponsor	0.01	\$383.00	\$400.00
Elementary Honor Society Co-Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Elementary Honor Society Co-Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Math Bowl Co-Sponsor	0.0075	\$287.25	\$300.00
Math Bowl Co-Sponsor	0.0075	\$287.25	\$300.00
Elementary Robotics-Head Coach	0.028	\$1,072.40	\$1,120.00
Elementary Robotics-Asst. Coach	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Spell Bowl/Spelling Bee Co-Sponsor	0.01	\$383.00	\$400.00
Student Council Co-Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Student Council Co-Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Battle of the Books Sponsor	0.01	\$383.00	\$400.00

Battle of the Books Sponsor	0.01	\$383.00	\$400.00
Battle of the Books Sponsor	0.01	\$383.00	\$400.00
STAR Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
STAR Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Girls Who Code Sponsor	0.01	\$383.00	\$400.00
Art Club Sponsor	0.006	\$229.80	\$240.00
SUMMITVILLE ELEMENTARY			
Elementary Choir Director	0.006	\$229.80	\$240.00
World Changers Co-Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
World Changers Co-Sponsor	0.014	\$536.20	\$560.00
Student Council Junior Co-Sponsor	0.01	\$383.00	\$400.00
Student Council Junior Co-Sponsor	0.01	\$383.00	\$400.00
Story Time Club Co-Sponsor	0.006	\$229.80	\$240.00
Story Time Club Co-Sponsor	0.006	\$229.80	\$240.00
DISTRICT			
Library Oversight	0.094	\$3,600.20	\$3,760.00
Social Media Content Strategist	0.14	\$5,362.00	\$5,600.00

3.500 All certified staff members who anticipate earning a degree or additional credit should notify the central office in writing by May 30.

3.600 A teacher who is not provided with a car and who is authorized to use his own automobile in pursuance of assigned school duties shall be reimbursed per approved miles traveled. Rate per approved mile shall be adjusted each July 1 to the Internal Revenue Service rate as of January 1 of the same calendar year.

3.700 The Board agrees to pay the cost of any and all expanded criminal history checks and expanded child protection index checks that are required by the School Corporation or per I.C. 20-26-5-10. This provision shall only apply to current employees and is inapplicable to applicants for employment.

4.000 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

4.100 Sick Leave

Sick leave shall be credited annually to each teacher on the first (1st) day of his employment year as follows:

- a. Ten (10) days for teachers on a first regular teaching contract.
- b. Nine (9) days for teachers on a regular teaching contract after the first (1^{st}) year.
- c. One (1) day of sick leave for employment under an extended or supplemental contract(s) having a duration of 5 through 20 days. If extended or supplemental contracts exceed 20 days, an additional day of sick leave shall be credited for each succeeding 5 through 20 days employed.
- 4.110 Beginning July 1, 2021, total unused sick leave days shall not be permitted to accumulate more than 100 days; provided, however, that a teacher who was employed by the School Corporation on October 1, 2000, and who has in excess of 90 unused sick leave days as of July 1, 2006, shall be permitted to retain such excess days, but shall not be permitted to accumulate any additional sick leave days in excess of 100. After a teacher uses nine (9) sick days in a school year, the building administrator may request a doctor's note for future absences.
- 4.115 For any teacher retiring on or after December 31, 2005, accumulated unused sick days have no cash value at retirement.
- 4.120 Sick leave days accumulated by a teacher prior to a leave of absence shall be credited to the teacher upon return.
- 4.130 Annual and accumulated sick leave days may be used as follows:
 - a. Personal illness or quarantine of the teacher.
 - b. Serious illness in the immediate family. Immediate family shall mean spouse, child, mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, and other persons financially and/or physically dependent (a note must be submitted to the Superintendent explaining the dependence upon the teacher).
 - c. Medical or dental appointment of the teacher; necessary medical or dental appointments of the immediate family (immediate family as defined in 7.130b) requiring the accompaniment of the teacher.
 - d. Other special cases shall be referred by the teacher to the Superintendent for the Superintendent's determination.

- 4.140 Teachers shall be given a written accounting of accumulated sick leave days by the beginning of each school year.
- 4.150 Teachers on summer school employment with the School Corporation shall be eligible to use sick or personal leave on the same basis as is used during the regular school year.
- 4.160 In addition to the sick leave provided for above, when a teacher with prior experience in the Indiana Public Schools System is newly employed in the Madison-Grant United School Corporation, sick leave earned in the previous situation will be credited to the teacher at the beginning of his second year of employment in this School Corporation as follows:

Three (3) days per year until all previous accumulated sick leave days have been credited, limited to the maximum accumulation.

4.200 Bereavement Leave

- 4.210 Teachers shall be entitled to no more than six (6) consecutive school days leave when death occurs in the immediate family. The leave shall begin with the day following the death and shall continue for six (6) consecutive school days. Should the teacher return to teaching duties before six (6) consecutive school days have elapsed, the teacher may, upon approval of the Superintendent, be allowed one (1) day for the transaction of business related to the death. The day shall be taken within two (2) months of the death. Immediate family shall be defined to include spouse, son, daughter, father, mother, brother, sister, step- child, mother-in-law, father-in-law, step-father, or step-mother.
- 4.220 Teachers of the School Corporation shall be entitled to not more than three (3) consecutive school days bereavement leave in the event of the death of a grandparent (teacher's grandparent), grandchild, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, aunt or uncle (teacher's aunt or uncle), or niece or nephew (teacher's niece or nephew). The leave shall begin with the day following the death or the day prior to the funeral.
- 4.221 Teachers of the School Corporation shall be entitled to one (1) school day per occurrence to attend the funeral of a first cousin, spouse's aunt or uncle, or spouse's grandparent.

- 4.230 Special cases not herein covered shall be referred to the Superintendent.
- 4.250 Personal Leave
- 4.260 Teachers shall be granted five (5) days of paid personal leave per school year.
 - a. This leave is to be used for matters which cannot be scheduled outside regular school hours. Notification of personal leave should be made two (2) days prior to such leave. If said notification is not possible, said teacher's building principal or the building principal's designee shall be notified prior to the use of the personal leave and written notification shall be provided not later than the first day of return from leave.
 - b. The applicant's reason for taking personal leave shall be to state that he is taking it under the provisions of this Contract.
 - c. Personal leave shall not be considered as sick leave and no such leave will be granted the day prior to or the day following a scheduled school vacation except in case of emergency. Emergency is defined as a sudden, generally unexpected occurrence or set of circumstances demanding immediate action. Other than an emergency, as defined above, no other circumstances will be considered as paid personal leave for the day prior to or the day following a scheduled school vacation (unpaid leave will be considered upon petition to the Superintendent by the teacher). Scheduled School Vacations include Christmas Vacation, Spring Vacation, and Summer Vacation.
 - d. A teacher who does not use all of his annual personal leave allotment may accumulate two of the unused days for a total of six (6) personal days. Any unused personal leave days above this limitation will be transferred to sick leave, subject, however, to the limitation on sick leave accumulation as is provided in 4.110 herein.
- 4.300 Temporary Disability Leave
- 4.310 Upon application and approval by the Board, a temporary disability leave of absence shall be granted to teachers of this School Corporation on the following basis:

4.320 Application of Provisions

- a. This provision shall apply to leave in all cases where a teacher is unable to teach because of a disability due to major surgery, pregnancy, childbirth, illness, or injury.
- b. In case of a temporary disability caused by pregnancy, said teacher may continue in active employment as late into pregnancy as she desires, if she is able to fulfill the requirements of her position. Any teacher who is pregnant is entitled to a leave of absence any time between the commencement of her pregnancy and one (1) year following the birth of her child, if, except in a medical emergency, as determined by the teacher's physician, she notifies the Office of the Superintendent at least thirty (30) days before the date on which she desires to start her leave. Such notice must also include a written statement from her physician certifying her pregnancy or a copy of the birth certificate of the newborn, whichever is applicable. All or any portion of leave taken by a teacher because of a temporary disability caused by pregnancy may be charged, at her discretion, to her available sick leave. After her available sick leave has been used, the teacher may be absent without pay subject to all other provisions contained herein.

4.330 Notification

The teacher shall notify the Office of the Superintendent in writing as soon as possible of his intention of taking a temporary disability leave, other than for pregnancy, as well as the anticipated date he wishes to commence said leave and the anticipated date of return. Upon application for leave, the teacher shall choose what portion of sick and/or personal leave will be allocated to such leave.

4.340 General Provisions Covering Said Leaves

- a. If said teacher desires to continue his duty assignment prior to the commencement of said leave, such notice must include a written statement from his physician or a mutually agreed upon physician attesting to the teacher's ability to continue performing the full schedule of the duties and responsibilities of his position and assignments.
- b. Said teacher may elect to utilize his accumulated sick leave during his period of temporary disability provided a physician's certification of disability is submitted to the Office of the Superintendent. While on said leave, sick leave days will be paid only for the number of assigned duty days the teacher is absent for which a physician certifies said teacher to be disabled.
- c. No leave under the provision shall be granted for a period of time in

excess of one (1) year, except for a temporary disability due to pregnancy wherein such leave may begin at any time between the commencement date of said teacher's pregnancy and one (1) year following the birth of said teacher's child subject to provisions of paragraph 4.320 herein.

4.350 Adoption Leave

4.360 Upon application by a teacher, the Board shall grant a teacher an adoption leave of absence, without pay, and Board-paid insurance, for a period not to exceed one (1) year. It is expressly understood that a teacher granted said leave shall not be credited with sick or personal leave days during his leave of absence, but shall retain all previously accumulated sick and personal leave days upon his return.

4.400 Professional Leave

Upon written application approved by the Board, teachers shall be granted time, with pay and expenses, to visit other schools, or to attend meetings or conferences of an educational nature.

4.450 Court Leave

4.460 Court leave with pay shall be granted to teachers for the time necessary to make appearances in any court proceeding resulting from activities relating to the teacher's employment with the School Corporation and initiated by a party other than the Board, a teacher, the Association, or affiliates of the Association.

4.500 Jury Duty Leave

4.510 A teacher called for grand or petit jury duty shall, during the required period of absence from assigned duty by the Board, be paid full regular salary, provided the total amount of per diem allowance earned by such teacher, if any, is remitted by the teacher to the School Corporation.

4.550 Political Leave

4.560 A leave of absence, without pay, for a period of six (6) weeks shall be granted to a teacher, upon request, for the purpose of campaigning for public office. If the teacher is elected to the office and the work of the office would interfere with the task of teaching, the teacher shall be granted a leave of absence without pay for a period of time to enable the teacher to serve one (1) full term in the office to which he was elected.

4.600 Study Leave

4.610 The Board may grant to a teacher, upon application, a leave of absence without pay, and Board-paid insurance for one (1) year for the purpose of study. It is expressly understood that a teacher granted said leave shall not be credited with sick or personal leave days during his leave of absence, but shall retain all previously accumulated sick and personal leave days upon his return.

Sabbatical Leave 4.650

- Upon written request of the teacher, the Board may grant a sabbatical leave for improvement of instruction through advanced study, work experience, teacher exchange programs, or approved educational travel. A teacher receiving a sabbatical leave shall sign an agreement to return to the School Corporation for the period of time immediately succeeding the sabbatical which is equal to the length of time of sabbatical leave granted.
- The Board may grant partial compensation for a sabbatical leave in an amount determined by the Board, subject to such deductions as required by law. A teacher receiving a sabbatical leave shall sign an agreement to remit to the Board, within thirty (30) days of the scheduled date of return, all salary paid by the School Corporation to the teacher while on said leave in the event said teacher elects not to return to the School Corporation as agreed.

4.700 Military Leave

- 4.710 Military leave will be granted to any teacher who is inducted into any branch of the Armed Forces of the United States or who enlists. Upon return from such leave, a teacher will be placed on the Salary Schedule at the level which he would have achieved had he remained actively employed in the system during the period of his absence, up to a maximum of four (4) years.
- 4.720 Full credit for military service will be allowed to all veterans who took the oath of allegiance, served in either combat or non-combat units, and were honorably discharged. A year shall be defined as at least eight (8) months of military service or a combination of military service and school teaching experience occurring between the dates of August 1 and July 31. In no case, shall a teacher receive more than the number of years he would have received as a teacher had his career not been delayed or interrupted. The same rules will be followed in case of service in the Red Cross or U. S. 0. during a period of hostility. Persons serving with the Armed Forces or cooperating auxiliary branches, shall, upon honorable discharge or separation, be readmitted to teaching in a position comparable to the one surrendered by the individual when he left the School Corporation. The teacher shall have up to sixty (60) days after release from active duty to notify the Board of his intention to return to the system. In the event that the veteran's former position is filled and an identical position is not available, then the veteran will be placed in a temporary position until a satisfactory adjustment can be made.
- 4.730 If National Guard or reserve encampment or a period of active training should occur during the school year, the teacher required to participate shall be granted a temporary leave of absence, not to exceed fifteen (15) days in any one (1) calendar year, without loss of pay.

4.760	Compensable Injury Leave
4.760	Any certificated school employee absent from work due to compensable injuries under Worker's Compensation while performing assigned duties of the Board or designee shall suffer no loss of sick leave for the period not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days. The Board agrees to pay the teacher the dollar difference between the teacher's net pay and the dollar amount received by the teacher from Worker's Compensation for a maximum of said thirty (30) calendar days.
4.800	Extension of Leave
4.810	A teacher may request and, upon Board approval, shall receive an extension of a leave of absence.
4.850	General Provision Covering Leaves of Absence
4.860	A teacher returning from a leave of absence shall be given his same position in the same school when he returns. If this is not possible because of unusual circumstances, he shall be given a comparable position or one that is mutually agreed upon.
4.870	Teachers returning from leaves of absence shall retain full credit for years of teaching service prior to the leave.
4.880	Sick Leave Bank - Appendix "C"
	Please refer to Appendix "C" for complete Sick Leave Bank Language

5.000 EMPLOYEE SEVERANCE PAY

Employee Severance pay under this Section 5.000 shall no longer be available, and the provisions under Sections 5.000 through 5.800 shall no longer apply, for any teacher retiring on or after **December 31, 2005.** Any teacher who retired prior to **December 31, 2005,** shall be paid his or her Severance Pay in accordance with the Master Contract provisions in effect on the date of his or her retirement and shall be funded through the general fund.

- A minimum number of years (see 5.100 A and B) of teaching experience is required in order to qualify for severance pay. These are years of teaching experience as a regular teacher or administrator, under a full-time contract. Substitute teaching does not apply.
 - A. After fifteen (15) years in the Madison-Grant United School Corporation, a teacher shall be eligible for severance pay at the rate of \$180.00 per year.
 - B. After ten (10) years of employment in the Madison-Grant United School Corporation and twenty (20) years total teaching experience, a teacher shall be eligible for the greater of severance pay under 8.100A or severance pay according to 8.500 below.
- In order to qualify for severance pay, a certified employee shall notify the Board of School Trustees for the School Corporation in writing of his intent to retire after April 1 and before June 1 of the year preceding his last full school year of employment. The employee must provide final verification of his intent to retire after June 1 of the year preceding his last full school year of employment, but before the following January 1.
- 5.300 An employee shall not be eligible for severance pay unless he is eligible for retirement with the Indiana State Teachers' Retirement Fund.
- 5.400 Severance pay for teachers eligible under 5.100A shall be computed according to the following schedule and the amount of severance pay shall be based upon the daily rate of the retiring employee's compensation as determined by the Contract then in force between the Board and the Association.

5.500	Years	Years in Madison-	% of Accumulated	Max No.
	Experience	Grant Schools	Sick Leave	of Days
	20	10	50	70
	21	11	54	75.6
	22	12	58	81.2
	23	13	62	86.8
	24	14	66	92.4
	25	15	70	98
	26	16	74	103.6
	27+	17	75	105

For the purpose of this provision on severance pay, years of teaching or administrative experience with the Madison-Grant United School Corporation shall include years of teaching or administrative experience in all predecessor school corporations of the Madison-Grant United School Corporation.

In case of the death of the teacher, after having provided final verification per 5.200, payment of any retirement compensation due to the above provisions shall be made to the beneficiary under the same terms as provided in Section 5.000. If a beneficiary is not named, the compensation shall be paid to:

First: The teacher's spouse, if living.

Second: The teacher's estate.

- 5.700 If a retiring teacher is eligible for supplemental retirement benefits under Section 6.000, the amount of severance pay due the teacher shall be paid in accordance with 6.400.
- 5.800 The availability of severance pay and supplemental retirement shall be subject to the limitations of any laws, rules, and regulations established by the State and Federal Government.

6.000 SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT

Wherever the words **Incentive Retirement** appear elsewhere in this Contract in reference to this Section, they shall be interpreted to mean **Supplemental Retirement**.

Supplemental retirement benefits under this section 6.000 shall no longer be available, and the provisions under Sections 6.000 through 6.600 shall no longer apply, for any teacher retiring on or after **December 31, 2005.** Any teacher who retired prior to **December 31, 2005,** shall be paid his or her supplemental retirement benefits in accordance with the Master Contract provisions in effect on the date of his or her retirement, which shall be funded through the general fund.

- 6.50 The Board will provide Supplemental Retirement benefits to a teacher who qualifies according to the following guidelines:
 - A. The retiring teacher must be a teacher in the Madison-Grant United School Corporation at the time of retirement.
 - B. The teacher must have at least twenty-eight (28) years of teaching experience.
 - C. The teacher must have completed the most recent twenty (20) years of teaching experience in the Madison-Grant United School Corporation.
 - D. The teacher shall provide written notice to the Superintendent of his intent to retire after April 1 and before June 1 of the year preceding his last full school year of employment. He must provide final verification of his intent to retire after June 1 of the year preceding his last full school year of employment, but before the following January 1.
 - 6.100 All benefits will be calculated from the Master Contract which is in force during the retiring teacher's final year of employment except as expressly provided in Section 6.000. If the Master Contract is being negotiated during the retiring teacher's final year, the teacher's benefits will be calculated from the current (status quo) contract and adjusted accordingly after the negotiated contract has been ratified by both parties.

6.200 Beneficiary

Should a teacher who has notified the Board of the intent to participate in the Supplemental Retirement Program die after the January 1 final verification but prior to receiving full benefits, the remaining benefits will be paid to the designated beneficiary under the same terms as provided in

Section 6.000. If a beneficiary is not named, the benefits will be paid to:

First: The teacher's spouse, if living. Second: The teacher's estate.

6.400 Severance Pay

Severance pay for teachers who qualify under Section 5.000 will be divided by the number of years that Supplemental Retirement benefits are to be paid and added to the annual Supplemental Retirement benefits.

6.500 Supplemental Retirement Benefit

The benefit to be received each year shall be a factor of the base salary (BS-0) in effect during the last school year of the teacher's active employment. The factor is listed below:

Year 1	0.6336
Year2	0.5280
Year 3	0.4224
Year4	0.3168
Year 5	0.2112
Year 6	0.1056

- 6.550 For purposes of Supplemental Retirements, years of teaching experience shall be defined as the number of years of experience credited to the teacher by Madison-Grant for purposes of placement on the salary schedule.
- 6.600 The availability of severance pay and supplemental retirement benefits shall be subject to the limitations of any laws, rules, and regulations established by the State and Federal Government.

7.000 SEVERANCE AND SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT BUY-OUT

Any teacher who is employed by the School Corporation on **October 1, 2000**, and who remains employed by the School Corporation on **December 31, 2005**, shall be eligible for the benefits set forth below in lieu of the severance pay set forth in Section 5.000 and the supplemental retirement pay set forth in Section 6.000. The benefits under this Section 7.000 are **not** available to any teacher hired after **October 1, 2000**, or any teacher retiring prior to **December 31, 2005**.

- 7.100 A teacher eligible under 7.000 shall receive a one-time buy-out amount equal to the total of:
 - A. The greater of (I) the present value of the teacher's projected severance pay set forth in 5.10O(A)- OR (II) the present value of the teacher's projected severance pay set forth in 5.500, *plus*
 - B. The present value of the teacher's projected supplemental retirement pay set forth in 6.000, *less*
 - C. The assumed value of theteacher's 401(a) plan account determined under 10.430.

The present value of the teacher's projected severance pay and supplemental retirement pay, and the assumed value of the teacher's 40l(a) plan account, shall be determined as of June 30, 2006. The following assumptions shall be used in making the above calculations: (i) a pre-retirement discount rate of 7.5%, (ii) a post-retirement discount rate of 7.5%, (iii) an assumed retirement date of age fifty-nine (59), (iv) the accumulation of four additional sick days each year, (v) a reduction for FICA, (vi) a turnover assumption, and (vii) annual salary increases rate of one and one-half percent (1.5%).

7.150 Eighty percent (80%) of the buy-out amount for a teacher shall be deposited as a lump sum into an individual account Code Section 40l(a) plan on behalf of the teacher, up to the applicable limits in 2006. If this amount exceeds the applicable limits, the buy-out amount shall be paid to the teacher's 403(b) plan account up to the applicable limits in 2006. If the buy-out amount exceeds both the 40l(a) and 403(b) applicable limits for 2006, the remaining amount shall be paid to the 401(a) plan the following year(s) until all amounts have been contributed. In the event that a teacher who is vested in some or all of the buy- out amounts dies or retires prior to contribution of the vested buy-out amount to the 40l(a) plan, any remaining amount shall be contributed to the 40l(a) plan up to the applicable limits, and then to the 403(b) plan.

The 40l(a) plan vendor shall be determined by the School Corporation. Teachers shall have the right to individually direct their own investments under

the 401(a) plan. Forfeitures shall be allocated to the accounts of the remaining active teachers participating in the 401(a) plan who received a buy-out amount under this 7.000. Forfeitures will be divided evenly among the remaining active teachers who were active in the year another teacher forfeited his account. If a teacher has closed his account before the forfeitures are distributed, the forfeitures will not be allocated to his closed account.

7.200 Twenty percent (20%) of the buy-out amount for a teacher shall be deposited as a lump sum into an individual account Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association (VEBA) on behalf of the teacher in 2006.

The VEBA vendor shall be determined by the School Corporation. Teachers shall have the right to individually direct their own investments under the VEBA. Forfeitures shall be allocated to the accounts of the remaining active teachers participating in the VEBA who received a buy-out amount under this 7.000. Forfeitures will be divided evenly among the remaining active teachers who were active in the year another teacher forfeited his account. If a teacher has closed his account before the forfeitures are distributed, the forfeitures will not be allocated to his closed account.

- 7.250 A teacher shall be vested in the amount of the buy-out of his or her severance pay under 7. 100(A) being held in the 40l(a) plan and the VEBA at such time that the teacher (i) has 15 years of service in the School Corporation, and (ii) is eligible for retirement under the Indiana State Teachers' Retirement Fund.
- 7.300 A teacher shall be vested in the amount of the buy-out of his or her severance pay under 7. 100(A) being held in the 40l(a) plan and the VEBA at such time that the teacher (i) has 10 years of service in the School Corporation, (ii) has 20 years of total teaching experience, and (iii) is eligible for retirement under the Indiana State Teachers' Retirement Fund. Funds in the 401(a) accounts will be available for withdrawal beginning on the first day of the fourth (4th) quarter in the year of the teacher's retirement in accordance with IRS 40l(a) rules and regulations.
- 7.350 Vesting Procedure for Supplemental Retirement Pay

Section A of 7.350 was the original vesting procedure for the Supplemental Retirement Pay. However, during 2008-2009 contract negotiations, the School Corporation agreed to make changes in the vesting procedure for the Supplemental Portion of the Retirement Buyout as outlined in Section B of 7.350. The wording in Section B of 7.350 is contingent upon both the School Corporation and the Association seeking legal counsel to ensure that the proposed language meets all legal requirements and that an updated 401a Plan Document will be drafted and agreed upon by both the School Corporation and the Association. Once legal counsel has reviewed the language and the new plan document is in place, this section may be revised as some language will no

longer be necessary. Before language is removed from this section, discussion will take place between the Association and the Corporation.

- A. A teacher shall be vested in the amount of the buy-out of his or her supplemental retirement pay under 7. 100(B) being held in the 401(a) plan and the VEBA at such time that the teacher has 28 years of total teaching experience the most recent 20 years of which were with the School Corporation. Funds in the VEBA accounts will be available for withdrawal beginning on the first day of the fourth (4th) quarter in the year of the teacher's retirement in accordance with IRS VEBA rules and regulations.
- B. A teacher shall be vested in the amount of the buy-out of his or her supplemental retirement pay under 7.100(B) being held in the 401(a) plan and the VEBA at such time that the teacher satisfies one of the following criteria:
- (i) 28 years of experience, with the most recent 20 being at Madison-Grant,
- (ii) 20 years of service at Madison-Grant and attainment of age 65

Funds in the VEBA accounts will be available for withdrawal beginning on the first day of the fourth (4th) quarter in the year of the teacher's retirement in accordance with IRS VEBA rules and regulations.

- 7.400 If a teacher who is fully vested in his or her benefit dies prior to retirement, the teacher's 40l(a) plan account and VEBA account balances shall be distributed to the teacher's designated beneficiary as provided under the respective plan documents.
- 7.450 Madison-Grant United School Corporation reserves the right to modify the provisions of this Section 7.000-7.400, as well as Section 5.000-5.800, Section 6.000-6.600, Section 8.000-8.300, and/or Section 10.000-10.600, but only to the extent determined necessary to comply with all applicable laws, including the Internal Revenue Code.
- 7.500 The availability of this severance pay and supplemental retirement buy-out shall be subject to the limitations of any laws, rules, and regulations established by the State and Federal Government.
- 7.600 For this contract only, a teacher who qualifies for retirement and provides notification of retirement by January 1 of the year in which they will retire, they do not revoke their retirement, and they serve through the end of the school year, they will receive a one-time stipend of \$5,000.00, subject to applicable withholdings. If, however, notification is received by the start of Spring Break the teacher will receive \$1,000.00, subject to applicable withholdings. And if notification arrives after the start of Spring Break but on or before the last teacher record day, the stipend will be \$500.00.

8.0 RETIREE HEALTH AND LIFE INSURANCE

8.100

The following teachers may elect to maintain coverage in the School Corporation's group health insurance plan at the teacher's cost upon retirement: (i) any teacher who retired prior to December 31, 2005, and who has been enrolled in the School Corporation's group health insurance plan since retirement, and (ii) any teacher eligible under 10.000 who retires having satisfied all of the eligibility criteria for supplemental retirement pay set forth under 9.000, and who is enrolled in the School Corporation's group health insurance plan at the time of retirement. If an eligible retiring teacher's spouse is on the School Corporation's group health insurance plan at the time of retirement, the spouse is also eligible to continue coverage until the spouse becomes eligible for Medicare, at the teacher's cost. The teacher must make timely premium payments to the School Corporation in twelve annual installments beginning the September of the school year following retirement. The teacher's and, if applicable, the spouse's coverage under the School Corporation's group health insurance plan shall terminate on the last day of the month prior to the month containing the teacher's (or spouse's) birthday that qualifies the teacher (or spouse) for Medicare coverage.

8.200

Any teacher who retired prior to December 31, 2005 may elect to continue coverage in the School Corporation's group term life insurance program at the teacher's cost. However, that coverage will cease at such time that the teacher is no longer entitled to Supplemental Retirement benefits under 9.500 OR would no longer have been entitled to Supplemental Retirement benefits under 9.500 had the teacher not received a buy-out under 9.000. The retired teacher must make timely premium payments to the School Corporation in twelve annual installments beginning the September of the school year following retirement.

8.300

The availability of benefits under 8.100 and 8.200 is subject to the limitations of any terms and conditions established by the insurance carriers chosen by the Board and the laws, rules, and regulations established by the State and Federal governments.

9.000 INSURANCE PROTECTION

9.100 Medical Insurance

- 9.110 Medical Insurance shall be administered by the North Central Indiana School Insurance Trust (Trust) until such time as the Corporation chooses to withdraw from the Trust.
 - a. Two (2) representatives from the Madison-Grant School Corporation will serve on the governing body of the Trust (per Trust requirements). These representatives shall include an administrator and a member of the Association.
 - b. The Board will agree to pay toward the cost of a comprehensive major medical health insurance plan, an amount equal to eighty percent (80%) of the premium for Plan 3 for the plan selected by the teacher.

Section 125 of the Revenue Act of 1978

Generation I and II of the Revenue Act of 1978 shall be offered. The Board shall designate the carrier, and administrative costs for Part II shall be borne by the employee.

A teacher's health insurance expires at the end of the month of the effective date of their resignation provided that if the teacher's resignation is effective after the school year has concluded, the teacher's insurance will extend through the end of July.

Retiring teachers will receive health insurance coverage through the month of August with payroll deductions made through the first pay in August

9.120 When refunds by insurance companies are made on teacher-related health policies, such refunds shall be kept separate from other school funds. Such refunds shall become a part of the cash reserves for a self-funded plan or shall be held for cash reserves to begin such a plan.

Should no self-funded plan be contemplated, the refund shall be returned to the teachers who paid the premiums on a pro-rata basis, and the portion paid by the Corporation shall be receipted based upon State Board of Accounts regulations.

9.200 Disability Income Plan

9.210 The Board will provide a 24 hour, calendar year sickness and accident policy for all teachers under regular contract, and all premiums except one dollar (\$1.00) per said teacher shall be paid by the Board.

- 9.220 The disability income plan has a ninety (90) day accident and a ninety (90) day sickness-waiting period (calendar days).
- The teacher will start receiving his benefits after the waiting period is exhausted, which starts on the first day that he contracts a doctor and the doctor provides information that the teacher is unable to resume normal activities.
- The current disability plan may be replaced if both parties, (Board and 9.240 Association), agree on a policy for replacement. Should the current carrier inform the Board that it will no longer provide such coverage, the Board and Association shall agree on a replacement.
- Short-Term Disability Insurance will be offered through the Supplemental Benefits Offering. The teacher shall be responsible for funding the full cost of the short-term disability insurance premium.
- The Board will pay all but one dollar (\$1.00) of the cost of the long-term disability insurance premium for each teacher

Term Life Insurance

9.300

The Board will provide term life insurance, including double the face value for accidental death, for each full-time teacher employed under regular contract and enrolled in the School Corporation's group plan. The Board shall pay the premium, less one dollar (\$1.00) paid by the teacher.

Amount of coverage shall be \$50,000.00

9.400 Dental Insurance

- 9.410 The Board will provide a dental insurance plan for each full-time teacher employed under regular contract. This plan will begin in the 2009-2010 school year (commencement date of such plan will be discussed with the Association, but may coincide with the health insurance renewal date of October 1, 2009). The teacher does not have to be enrolled in the School Corporation's group health plan to be eligible for this benefit. The Board shall pay fifty percent (50%) of the premium; the other fifty percent (50%) shall be paid by the teacher.
- 9.500 The MGUSC Insurance Committee shall meet on at least an annual basis to discuss all pertinent aspects of the insurance coverage provided by MGUSC. This coverage shall include medical, dental, vision, life, and disability. The committee shall include at least one teacher from each building. Such teacher representatives will be selected/assigned by the MGTA. Any reports to teachers concerning the North Central Indiana School Insurance Trust (Trust), outside the regular MGUSC Insurance Committee meetings, will be the responsibility of the teacher representative who is on the governing body of the Trust.

10.000 401(a) MATCHING ANNUITY PLAN/403(b) NON-MATCHING PLAN

10.100 The Board agrees to establish and maintain a qualified 401(a) Plan for all certified school employees covered under this Agreement. The Board will also maintain a 403(b) Plan for all certified school employees covered under this Agreement. The 403(b) plan will include provisions for pre-tax salary reduction contributions that will be matched by equal Board contributions to the 401(a) Plan to the maximum as outlined in 10.300. Notwithstanding the preceding, effective September 1, 2008, matching contributions shall be made to the 403(b) Plan instead of to the 401(a) Plan.

10.150 A maximum one-percent (1%) of teacher salary (as described in 10.200) contribution to the Corporation 403(b) Plan will begin with the 2009-2010 school year (in accordance with current transmittal procedures) and continue each year as long as this provision is part of the Agreement. This will be a one-percent (1%) non-matching contribution made on behalf of any eligible teacher who was a part of the buy-out set forth in 7.000 (hired before October 1, 2000). The teacher must make appropriate application to the 403(b) Vendor in order for this contribution to be made. This Section 10.150 will require, and be subject to, a revised legal 403(b) Plan Document. The parties to this Agreement shall, on an annual basis, determine whether this percentage of teacher salary shall be increased or decreased.

Teacher salary shall be the placement of the teacher on item 3.100, SALARY SCHEDULE for the previous school year. Teacher salary shall not include any other amounts, such as extracurricular, supplemental, extended contract, summer, after school, or extra duty payments. Teacher salary for a teacher new to the corporation shall be the placement on the previous year schedule IF the teacher had been employed at Madison-Grant. For a new teacher, this shall be Bachelors and O years of experience.

10.300 A maximum two percent (2%) of teacher salary (as described in 10.200) contribution to the Corporation 403(b) Plan will begin with the 2009-2010 school year (in accordance with current transmittal procedures) and continue each year as long as this provision is part of the Agreement. This will be a two percent (2%) non-matching contribution made on behalf of any eligible teacher who was hired after October 1, 2000. The teacher must make appropriate application to the 403(b) Vendor in order for this contribution to be made. This Section 10.150 will require, and be subject to, a revised legal 403(b) Plan Document. The parties to this Agreement shall, on an annual basis, determine whether this percentage of teacher salary shall be increased or decreased.

10.400 The parties agree that matching contributions to the 401(a) Plan (and 403(b) Plan effective September 1, 2008) will replace, in the manner designated below, the current EMPLOYEE SEVERANCE PAY, Section 5.000 through

5.800, and also SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT, Section 6.000 through Section 6.600, found in the current Master Agreement. The parties also agree that all matching contributions made to the 401(a) Plan and/or 403(b) Plan by the Board will be considered as additional funds and be counted as part of any salary adjustments negotiated for certified employees covered by this Agreement.

- 10.410 For certified employees hired after October 1, 2000, the EMPLOYEE SEVERANCE PAY and SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT provisions (Hereinafter called SEVERANCE AND RETIREMENT) of this agreement will not be available. The 401(a) Plan and the 403(b) Plan will be the only severance or retirement provisions available to them.
- 10.420 For certified employees with a hiring date prior to October 1, 2000, provisions 10.430 through 10.450 shall no longer apply except to the extent utilized to calculate the buy-out amounts in 7.000.
- 10.430 Regardless of the amount deposited to and earned by the 401(a) Plan account, a value will be placed on the account at the end of each contract year. The assumption for this calculation will always be that the teacher is participating to the maximum degree in this program, regardless of level of participation of the teacher. This value shall be called the "assumed value," and shall be determined as follows:

A. The "assumed value" at the beginning of the contract year (which is the same value determined at the end of the previous contract year) shall be increased by the percentage amount of the "guaranteed fund" of the Indiana State Teacher Retirement Fund in effect at January 1 of the contract year. This percentage is expressed as "PA" below. For example, an eight and a half (8.5) percent rate shall be .085, etc. This calculation shall be as follows:

Beginning "assumed value" X (1.00 +PA)= adjusted "assumed value."

B. The value of the amount deposited during the year shall be determined as follows: The amount deposited during the year, shall be increased by the rate "PA" above, applied to one-half of the amount deposited.

Amount deposited/ 2 X (PA) + amount deposited= deposit value.

C. The "assumed value" at the end of the contract year shall be the adjusted "assumed value" in A above, plus the deposit value in B above.

10.440 For employees hired prior to October 1, 2000, the dollar amount the employee will receive from SEVERANCE AND RETIREMENT provisions shall be reduced by the value calculated in item 7.430 above, at the end of the final year of employment.

- The dollar amount determined by 7.430 above shall be divided by the six years of SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT benefit and applied equally to the years SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT will be paid. The amount of "assumed value" applied to any year shall not be greater than the total SEVERANCE AND RETIREMENT for that year. Should the amount of "assumed value" divided by years of SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT be greater than SEVERANCE AND RETIREMENT for any year, the remaining "assumed value" ("assumed value" for that year minus SEVERANCE AND RETIREMENT for that year) shall be divided equally among the remaining years, and no SEVERANCE AND RETIREMENT will be paid for that year. Should that total "assumed value" be greater than the total SEVERANCE AND RETIREMENT amount, there will be no payments for SEVERANCE AND RETIREMENT.
- 10.500 The 40l(a) Plan and 403(b) Plan will:
 - A. Be subject to all applicable Internal Revenue Service regulations.
 - B. Be subject to all applicable State and Federal laws.
- 10.600 Employees will be 100% vested in the 401(a) Plan and 403(b) Plan immediately upon participation in the plan.
- 10.700 The availability of benefits under the 401(a) Plan and 403(b) Plan shall be subject to the limitations of any laws, rules, and regulations established by the State and Federal Government.

11.000 GRIEVANCE

11.100 DEFINITIONS

- a. A "grievance" is an alleged violation of claimed misapplication or misinterpretation of a specific article or section of this Contract.
- b. The term "day" when used in this Article shall mean teacher days (as that term is used in the school calendar or 186 days.) During the summer recess, the term shall mean weekdays (Monday through Friday).
- c. The term "grievant" in this Article means grievant or grievants as is applicable in each instance.
- d. The term "building administrator" when used in this Article shall refer to the building principal, or in his absence the assistant principal, or in the absence of both, the Superintendent.
- e. The term "non-teaching hours" when used in this Article shall mean one-half hour prior to the beginning of scheduled daily class instruction and one hour following the termination of daily class instruction.

11.200 Joint Grievances

An individual teacher or group of teachers may present a grievance. The adjustment of all grievances shall not be inconsistent with the terms of this Contract.

11.300 Procedure

11.310 Step One

Within five (5) days of the incident, which is the subject of the grievance, a grievance shall be initiated by the grievant approaching the building administrator during non-teaching hours, and the parties shall discuss the matter in an effort to resolve the grievance.

Step Two

In the event the grievance is not resolved, the grievant may file within six (6) days from the initial discussion of the parties as provided in Step One, a formal grievance in writing with the building administrator on the form provided by the Board and agreed upon by the Association.

- 1. The grievanceshall:
 - a. Name the grievant involved;
 - b. State the facts giving rise to the grievance;
 - c. Identify the specific provisions of this Contract misinterpreted or

misapplied;

- d. State the contention of the grievant with respect to the grievance;
- e. Indicate the specific relief requested; and
- f. Be signed by the grievant.
- 2. Within five (5) days after receiving the written grievance, the building administrator shall communicate his answer in writing to the grievant and said answer shall be attached to the grievance.
- 3. The building administrator or the grievant may request another meeting or meetings prior to the expiration of the time period provided in paragraph two (2) immediately above. The grievant may request that another teacher, who is a representative of the Association, accompany the grievant at such meeting.

Step Three

- 1. If the grievance is not resolved in Step Two, the grievant may, within five (5) days of receipt of the building administrator's answer appeal to the Superintendent, or in the event of his absence, within five (5) days following his return, by filing the grievance and the building administrator's answer.
- 2. The Superintendent shall review the grievance and render his decision in writing to the grievant within five (5) days. Such answer shall be attached to the grievance.

Step Four

- 1. If the grievance is not resolved in Step One, Step Two, or Step Three, the grievant may within five (5) days of the receipt of the Superintendent's answer, appeal to the Board by filing the grievance and all attachments with the Superintendent. Any response by the grievant shall be attached to the grievance.
- 2. The Board shall review the grievance and render its decision in writing to the grievant within fifteen (15) calendar days following the first regular board meeting scheduled after submission of the grievance to the Superintendent as herein provided. Such answer shall be attached to the grievance.

Step Five

Within twenty (20) days after receipt of the decision in Step Four, the Association or the Superintendent, upon written notice to the other, may submit the grievance to arbitration under and in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association, pursuant to the following procedure:

1. The two (2) parties shall attempt to select an arbitrator by mutual agreement. If they cannot agree on an arbitrator within five (5) days after notification is given, the arbitrator shall be selected by the American Arbitration Association in accord with its rules which shall likewise govern the arbitration hearing. The arbitrator shall set forth his findings and

- conclusions on the issues submitted. Both parties agree to be bound by the award of the arbitrator.
- 2. The Board and the Association agree that neither party shall be permitted to assert in such arbitration proceedings any ground or to rely on any evidence not previously disclosed to the other party.
- 3. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the Board and the Association, except as noted below. All other expenses shall be borne by the party incurring them. Should the Administrator/Board fail to answer a grievance within the time limit in Step Two, Step Three, or Step Four, the fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne by the Board.
- 4. The arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from, disregard, alter, or modify any of the terms of this Contract.
- 5. Hearing shall be conducted at a time and place which will afford a fair and reasonable opportunity for all persons including witnesses. Hearings shall be conducted during non-school hours unless there is a mutual agreement for other arrangements.

11.400 Other Provisions Relating to the Grievance Procedure

- 1. No reprisal of any kind shall be taken by or against any participant in the grievance procedure by reason of participation.
- 2. Time limits herein may be extended only by mutual agreement, signed by the parties.
- 3. Time limits herein apply to teachers on leave of absence, other than sick leave and emergency leave, as if such teacher were present and working.
- 4. If there is a failure at Step Two, Step Three, or Step Four to communicate the decision on a grievance within the specified time limit, it shall be considered to be at the next step.
- 5. Any grievance not advanced from one step to the next within the time limits, shall be deemed resolved by the answer at the previous step.

- 6. Any grievance which arose prior to the date of this Contract shall not be processed.
- 7. Nothing contained herein shall deny to any employee rights under State or Federal Constitutions and laws.
- 8. No employee shall use the grievance procedure to appeal teacher dismissals or any decision of the Board or Administration if such decision is pursuant to any order of or written agreement with any other State or Federal Regulatory Commission or Agency.
- 9. Any grievance not presented in Step One within the time limits therein set out or any grievance not submitted in writing in Step Two within six (6) teaching days of its submission in Step One, shall be deemed waived and shall not be processed.
- 10. All documents, communications, and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel file of the participant and are not a valid basis for evaluation.

12.000 TERMOFCONTRACT

- 1. This Contract shall be effective as of July 1, 2023, and shall continue to be effective through June 30, 2025.
- 2. The undersigned attest to the following:
- A public hearing was held on [date] in compliance with IC 20-29-6-1(b), and electronic participation from the parties and/or public was permitted;
- A public meeting was held on [date] in compliance with IC 20-29-6-19 to discuss the tentative agreement and electronic participation from the governing body and public was permitted.
- 3. The Contract shall not be extended orally and it is expressly understood that it shall expire on the date indicated. Whenever any notice is required to be given by either of the parties to this Contract to the other party, either shall do so by registered letter at the following address:

1 27	, ,	e
If by the Association to the Board at:	11580 S EOOW Fairmount, IN 46928	
If by the Board to the Association at:	6910 N. Shadeland STE 100 Indianapolis, IN 46220	
In witness whereof, the partie above written,	es hereto have executed this instrument	the day and year first
This Contract is so attested by	y the parties whose signatures appear be	elow:
Board of School Trustees of The Madison-Grant United	Madison-Grant Teachers' Association	
Secretary	President	-
Date	Date	_

APPENDIX "A"

TEMPORARY DISABILITY LEAVE FORM

NameDate
Address Phone
SchoolPosition
Date of last day of teaching
Approximate date of returning to present employment
Sick leave days available Amount of sick days applied to Temporary Disability Leave Personal I eave days available Amount of personal days applied to Temporary Disability Leave Total sick and personal I eave days available
Total amount of leave days applied to Temporary Disability Leave
Signature of Teacher
Submit toSuperintendent

APPENDIX "B"

GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM

For

Matters relating to the Master Contract between the Association and the Madison-Grant United School Corporation Board of School Trustees

STEP 1- This step involves a verbal exchange of the Master Contract.	ange between the grievant and the building administrator a	as outlined in Section 11.310
	Submitted to Building Administrator	
Name of Grievant	Building	
Date Filed	Assignment	
	STEP 2	
A. Date Cause of Grievance Occurred		- — — — — — —
8. 1. Statement of Grievance		
2. Relief Sought		
	Signature	Date
C. Disposition by Building Administrator		
	 Signature	Date
D. Position of Grievant and/or Association	n	
	Signature	Date

STEP 3

A. Disposition by Superintendent		
	Signature	Date
3. Position of Grievant and/or Associa	tion	
	Signature	Date
	STEP 4	
A. Disposition by Board of School Trust	ees	
3. Position of Grievant and/or Association	on	
		
	Signature	Date
	STEP 5	
A. Date Submitted to Arbitration		
B. Findings and Recommendations or A	rbitrator	
	Signature	Date

APPENDIX C Appendix to 4.880 -Sick Leave Bank

I. Sick Leave Bank

A. Purpose: To provide additional sick and accidental benefits beyond normal sick leave for all certified teachers who are unable to perform their normal duties for medical reasons (of the certified teacher).

B. Participation

- 1. All certified teachers are eligible to contribute and must complete the Sick Leave Bank Form of their intent to participate or not. This notification must be turned into the Association Designee who will then turn both a compiled list and the Sick Leave Bank Forms in to the Central Office within ten (10) business days of the beginning of the school year. For those choosing to participate, their contribution will be deducted from their individual sick leave days once the above mentioned documentation is turned in to the Central Office.
- 2. Newly hired teachers who choose to participate in the Sick Leave Bank must complete the necessary paper work and turn such paper work into the Association Designee. This documentation must be turned into the Central Office, by the Association Designee, within ten (10) days of the new teacher signing their first contract.
- 3. Withdrawal of Membership: A teacher may withdraw from the Sick Leave Bank at any time, but may not withdraw donated days.
- 4. Previous non-participants may join the Bank by making any back contributions equal to the number of days they would have contributed had they joined when originally eligible.
- 5. Non-participants are not eligible to receive days from the Bank.

C. Contributions

- 1. Each participant will contribute at least one (1) day per year and may contribute up to the maximum of three (3) days per year. For purposes of determining a participant's maximum allowable sick leave balance at the end of a school year, the day or days contributed will be treated as sick leave used. Once the Bank has at least 200 days, no further contributions will be required until the Bank days fall below 50.
- 2. If no assessment has been made in a particular school year and the number of banked days drops below 50 prior to March 15th, each participant shall be assessed one (1) day unless he/she has contributed a maximum of three (3) days.

- 3. When the Bank has fewer than 50 days, participants shall contribute another day. If at that time a member has no remaining sick leave days, he/she shall be exempt from this assessment until the beginning of the following school year.
- 4. Once days are in the Bank, they lose all identity and cannot be reclaimed by the contributor.
- 5. Any days that are granted for use from the Sick Leave Bank, but are not used, shall be returned to the Bank and will not be considered repayment of days used.

D. Administration

- 1. The Sick Leave Bank shall be administered by a committee composed of five (5) voting Bank Members (with an attempt to have each building represented) appointed by the Association President on an annual basis. The Association President or designee shall chair the committee. The Committee Chair shall be responsible for convening the Committee to consider applications for Bank days and shall report the decision of the Committee to the applicant and the Superintendent in writing.
- 2. Although it is the Association's responsibility to develop application guidelines and any other regulatory forms necessary to conduct Sick Leave Bank business, all forms and guidelines will be shared with the Superintendent.
- 3. It is understood that the Bank cannot discriminate against any applicant nor can it make illegal decisions.
- 4. The Corporation shall be responsible for maintaining Bank records and shall provide the Association President and Committee Chair with an account by October 1 of each year and upon request if there has been activity.
- 5. Both the Superintendent's office and the Sick Leave Bank shall keep records on the number of days in the Sick Leave Bank and of the use of such days by participants. These records shall be reconciled at the end of each academic year.

E. Procedure

- 1. An Applicant must have exhausted all of his/her sick leave and personal leave days and have had five (5) days of unpaid leave before receiving benefits. In the event of a demonstrated hardship, the Applicant may petition the Committee to waive all or a portion of the unpaid leave.
- 2. Application must be in writing on the Committee's form and submitted to the Association President with a copy to the Superintendent.
- 3. Ideally, the application should be made at least ten (10) days before the absence.
- 4. In cases of emergencies, application should be made as soon as possible.

- 5. Application may be made by a personal representative if the Applicant is unable to do so.
- 6. A physician's statement indicating the necessity of the leave and a prognosis for a return to work shall be required. This information is deemed confidential.
- 7. A maximum of 25 school days per loan shall be allowed.
- 8. If more days are needed, the Applicant must reapply.
- 9. No participant will be eligible for both Corporation Disability and Sick Leave Bank at the same time.
- 10. If the Committee denies a loan, it must state in writing the reason(s) for denial. The decision of the Committee will be final.

F. Repayment

- 1. Following return to work, the Borrower shall repay the days at a rate of two (2) days per year until all borrowed days are repaid or he/she retires. In case of a demonstrated hardship, the borrower may petition the committee for a lesser number of days per year. These days will be automatically deducted from the Borrower's new bank of sick leave days at the beginning of the following school year unless the Association President notifies the Superintendent otherwise, in writing.
- 2. If a Borrower leaves or retires from Madison-Grant prior to repaying the days borrowed, any sick leave days remaining in his/her account shall be used to repay the loan.
- 3. The committee may waive repayment of the loan in case of death.